BRIEF ON BEHALF OF APPELLANT 
BITUMINOUS CASUALTY CORPORATION 

I. KIND OF PROCEEDING AND NATURE OF 
THE RULING OF THE CIRCUIT COURT 

This appeal arises from a ruling regarding liability insurance coverage rendered in a 

declaratory judgment action instituted by Resource Consultants and Developers, Inc. ("RCDI") 

as Civil Action No. 05-C-342 in the Circuit Court of Greenbrier County, West Virginia, against 

Bituminous Casualty Corporation ("Bituminous"). The insurance declaratory judgment action 

arose out of and was ultimately consolidated with a tort case, McConnick v. WalMart Stores,

this case because of significant differences between the Bituminous insurance policy issued to 

Davis & Burton and the insurance policies issued to the contractor in Marlin. Bituminous 

pointed out that there are textual differences in the terms ofthe Bituminous policy from the 

insurance policy at issue in Marlin that have special significance in relation to the obligation to 

defend claims against non-parties to the insurance contract. 

By Order dated May 15, 2008, the Circuit Court denied the motion to reconsider, 

reaffirming its initial ruling that the indemnity provision was an "insured contract." May 15, 

2008 Order at 8. The May 15, 2008 Order did not address the other issues raised by Bituminous 
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including the effect of the differences in the instant policy language from the liability policies at 

issue in Marlin. 

Finally, by Order dated September 8,2009, Judge Rowe resolved the last remaining issue 

in the declaratory judgment action and awarded RCDI the above-referenced monetary relief. In 

that order, the Circuit Court also ruled that the Davis & BurtonIRCDI indemnity clause 

"overrides the 'other insurance' clauses in the insurance policies" and ordered that Bituminous 

was responsible for 100% ofRCDI's defense costs. September 8,2009 Order at 12. The 

September 8,2009 Order was a final order resolving all matters in dispute in Civil Action No. 

05-C-342. 

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

The facts relevant to the declaratory judgment action were already a part of the Circuit 

Court's findings or were otherwise undisputed.3 

In August 1994, Davis & Burton placed a bid with RCDI to perform work relating to the 

installation of a stonn water management system for a WalMart store to be located in Lewisburg, 

West Virginia in Greenbrier County. RCDI was the general contractor for the construction 

project. On September 1, 1994, Davis & Burton entered into awritten contract with RCDI to act 

as RCDI's subcontractor for the construction of the stormwater drainage system. Under 

Provision 4.6.1 ofthe contract with RCDI, Davis & Burton was required to indemnify and hold 

3 The Circuit Court's June 14,2006 Order in Civil Action No. 01-C-2S1 made certain "Findings of Undisputed 
Fact" that are relevant to the declaratory judgment action. See June 14,2006 Order in Civil Action No. 01-C-251 at 
4-6. Because the two cases were consolidated, the Circuit Court's rulings in Civil Action No. 01-C-2S1 became the 
law of the case for both of the consolidated actions. "The law of the case doctrine provides that a prior decision in a 
case is binding upon subsequent stages oflitigation between the parties to promote finality." State ex reI Termnet 
Merchant Services, Inc. v. Jordan, 217 W. Va. 696,702 n.l4, 619 S.E.2d 209,215 n.l4 (2005). 
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harmless ReDI for any claims, damages, losses and expenses "but only to the extent caused in 

whole or in part by the negligent acts or omissions" of Davis & Burton. (Emphasis added.) 

The contract between ReDI and Davis & Burton required Davis & Burton to obtain 

insurance in the amount of two million dollars ($2,000,000.00) per occurrence, and to name 

ReDI and WalMart as additional insureds. Pursuant to Section 13.1113.3 of the subcontract with 

RCDI, Davis & Burton was required to file with RCDI a Certificate ofInsurance showing RCDI 

as an additional insured, prior to commencement of the subcontractor's work. 

Davis & Burton commenced construction of the stormwater management system in 

September 1994. On October 19, 1994, Putnam Agency, Inc., an insurance agency located in 

Ashland Kentucky, that had procured the policy for Davis & Burton, issued a Certificate of 

Insurance which indicated that Davis & Burton had genera11iability coverage under Bituminous 

policy number CLP 2 160263 for the policy period from August 28, 1994 to August 28, 1995. 

The Certificate also stated that "[t]he certificate holder [RCDI] and ReDI Management, Inc. and 

Wa1-Mart Stores Inc. are listed as additional insureds." In fact, nothing in the policy actually 

made RCDI an "additional insured" thereunder. 

Records produced by Bituminous and the Putnam Agency in the declaratory judgment 

litigation showed that no request had ever been made to add RCDI or any other entity as an 

"additional insured" on Davis & Burton's Bituminous policy. The Bituminous policy contained 

no "additional insured" endorsements. 

The work of Davis & Burton was supervised and observed by employees ofRCD!. The 

evidence showed that ReDI was responsible for reviewing the Periodic Progress Reports 

submitted by Davis & Burton and monitoring the progress of Davis &.Burton's work to ensure 

compliance with the stormwater drainage plans designed by Freeland-Clinkscales and Kauffman, 

6 



the design engineering fInn that designed the WalMart site (including its stonnwater 

management plan). WalMart's construction Manager visited the site on a monthly basis and 

reviewed the progress of Davis & Burton's work before recommending payment to Davis & 

Burton for the percentage of work completed. Davis & Burton's work on the project was 

completed in 1995. 

On October 30, 2001, the McConnick plaintiffs fIled suit against WalMart, RCDr, the 

City of Lewisburg and the West Virginia Department of Transportation, Division of Highways, 

alleging that stonnwater was being diverted onto their adjacent properties as a result of the 

construction of the Lewisburg WalMart. 4 The McConnicks asserted claims based upon 

intentional and negligent trespass, intentional and negligent violation of the "reasonable use" 

doctrine, intentional interference with advantageous business relations: the tort of outrage, and 

intentional infliction of emotional distress.5 

In February 2005, RCDr fIled a third-party complaint in the McConnick case against 

Davis & Burton, alleging entitlement to indemnifIcation, seeking contribution, and asserting that 

the damage was a result of negligence of Davis & Burton in the construction of the stonnwater 

discharge system. RCDI's third-party complaint also explicitly alleged that Davis & Burton had 

breached its contract with RCDr by failing to defend and indemnify RCDr and by failing to have 

RCDr named as an additional insured on the Bituminous policy. 

4 An Amended Complaint subsequently added claims by the McConnick plaintiffs against the designers Freeland
Clinkscales and Kauffman. 

5 Significantly, the McCormick plaintiffs never made any claims directly against Davis & Burton and never even 
alleged that Davis & Burton was negligent in the performance of its work on the project. Nor did any other party to 
the litigation. The only party ever to even allege negligence on the part of Davis & Burton was RCDI, in the third
party complaint seeking indemnity and contribution. 
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After extensive discovery, summary judgment motions were filed. The Circuit Court 

granted summary judgment to Davis & Burton on RCDI's third-party complaint, inter alia, 

rejecting RCDI's claim for contractual indemnification and holding in relevant part that: 

A review of the contract language reveals that Davis & Burton is 
only required to indemnify and hold harmless RCDr for any 
"claims, damages, losses and expenses, including but not limited to 
attorney's fees, arising out of or resulting from the performance of 
the Subcontractor's Work under this Subcontract ... to the extent 
caused in whole or in part by negligent acts or omissions of the 
Subcontractor." Plaintiffs' claims for damages stems from a 
fundamentally flawed design plan, not negligence with regard to 
the construction of the storm water drainage system. As there is no 
genuine issue of material fact by which it can be asserted that the 
construction of the storm water drainage system proximately 
caused Plaintiffs' damages, Davis & Burton has committed no 
negligent acts or omissions which caused said damages to rise. 
Since Davis & Burton have [sic] committed no negligent acts or 
omissions which gave rise to Plaintiffs' damages, Davis & 
Burton has no obligation to indemnify or hold harmless ReD] in 
this matter . ... 

June 14, 2006 Order at 9-10, emphasis added. 

The Circuit Court also rejected RCDI's breach of contract claim, finding that Davis & 

Burton had "met all of the necessary contractual prerequisites relative to provided [sic] RCDr 

with a Certificate of Insurance and naming RCDr as an additional insured." June 14,2006 Order 

at 11. Thus, the Circuit Court dismissed RCDI's third-party complaint in its entirety. By 

separate order dated June 13,2006, the Circuit Court also dismissed the plaintiffs' claims against 

RCDr as barred by the statute oflimitations. 

Despite this ruling by the Circuit Court, RCDI's insurance coverage declaratory judgment 

action against Bituminous, which had been commenced six months earlier and consolidated with 

Civil Action No. 01-C-2S1 by Order dated June 16, 2006, was nonetheless pursued by RCDI's 

commercial general liability insurer (in RCDI's name) to recover reimbursement from 
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Bituminous for defense costs that RCDI or its insurer had incurred in defending the McCormick 

case. RCDI was defended in Civil Action No. 01-C-251 from the inception of that action by its 

own insurance carrier and incurred no costs or expenses of its own in that defense. Counsel in 

the declaratory judgment action is also being paid by RCDI's liability insurance carrier to pursue 

that action in RCDI's name. 

As noted above, the Circuit Court's rulings in Civil Action No. 05-C-342 that are at issue 

in this appeal are the three orders issued by Judge Rowe on October 5,2007, May 15, 2008 and 

September 8, 2009. 

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. The Circuit Court Erred In Finding That Davis & Burton's Contract With 
RCDI Was An "Insured Contract" As Defined By The Insurance Policy. 

B. The Circuit Court Erred In Finding That Bituminous, As Davis & Burton's 
Insurer, Had A Duty To Defend RCDI, When No Allegations of Negligence 
Were Made Against Davis & Burton By Any Other Party To The Litigation 
And RCDl's Own Allegations Of Negligence Against Davis & Burton Failed. 

C. Even If Davis & Burton's Contract With RCDI Was An "Insured Contract," 
The Circuit Court Erred In Failing To Apply The Clear And Unambiguous 
Language of The Bituminous Policy Governing Claims Under An "Insured 
Contract." 

D. The Circuit Court Erred In Its Analysis Of The Interplay Between The "Other 
Insurance" Provisions Of The Insurance Policies Implicated By The 
McCormick Claims And The Indemnity Agreement. 
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v. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Insofar as Judge Rowe's Orders resolved the declaratory judgment claims asserted by 

RCDI involving insurance coverage on motion for summary judgment, the scope of review in 

this case is plenary; the standard of review is de novo. With regard to the appropriate standard of 

review in a declaratory judgment action, this Court has stated: 

because the purpose of a declaratory judgment action is to resolve 
legal questions, a circuit court's ultimate resolution in a declaratory 
judgment action is reviewed de novo; however, any determination 
of fact made by the circuit court in reaching its ultimate resolution 
are reviewed pursuant to a clearly erroneous standard. 
Accordingly, we hold that a circuit court's entry of a declaratory 
judgment is reviewed de novo. 

Cox v. Amick, 195 W. Va. 608,612,466 S.E.2d 459,463 (1995). 

In this appeal, the Court must review the Circuit Court's interpretation of an insurance 

contract. In Syllabus point 2, Riffe v. Home Finders Associates, Inc., 205 W. Va. 216, 517 

S.E.2d 313 (1999), this Court held: 

The interpretation of an insurance contract, including the question 
of whether the contract is ambiguous, is a legal determination that, 
like a lower court's grant of summary judgment, shall be reviewed 
de novo on appeal. 

See also, Syllabus Point 1, Tennant v. Smallwood 211 W.Va. 703, 568 S.E.2d 10 (2002), 

("Determination of the proper coverage of an insurance contract when the facts are not in dispute 

is a question oflaw."). The question of which state's law governs the analysis of the insurance 

contract is purely a question oflaw for the Court. 

To the extent that the Circuit Court interpreted the indemnity agreement between Davis 

& Burton and RCDI, it was also deciding questions of law. "[Q]uestions about the meaning of 

contractual provisions are questions of law" to be reviewed de novo by this Court. Fraternal 

14 



Order of Police, Lodge No. 69 v. City of Fairmont, 196 W. Va. 97, 100,468 S.E.2d 712, 715 

(1996). Accordingly, the standard of review applicable to this appeal is a de novo standard. 

VI. ARGUMENT 

A. The Circuit Court Erred In Finding That Davis & Burton's Contract With RCDI 
Was An "Insured Contract" As Defined By The Insurance Policy. 

The Circuit Court based its ruling that Bituminous had a duty to defend RCDI in Civil 

Action No. 01-C-2S1 on this Court's holding in Marlin v. Wetzel County Board of Education, 

212 W.Va. 215, 569 S.E.2d 462 (2002), that, "when a party has an 'insured contract,' that party 

stands in the same shoes as the insured for coverage purposes." The term "insured contract" is a 

term that is used and, in fact, is specifically defined in, the insurance policy. Any analysis of 

whether the indemnity provision in Davis & Burton's subcontract constituted an "insured 

contract" within the policy definition is a question of insurance law. As noted above, the Circuit 

Court's initial order concluded that Kentucky law governed the interpretation of the insurance 

policy, October 5, 2007 Order at 5. Notwithstanding this conclusion, the Circuit Court 

interpreted this policy language under West Virginia law because the subcontract was entered 

into and was to be performed in West Virginia. 

The question of what Davis & Burton's indemnity obligations to RCDI were under the 

subcontract was indeed a question of West Virginia law. However, the question of whether the 

indemnity provision of that subcontract (as controlled by West Virginia law) was an "insured 

contract" as defined by the policy, is a question of interpretation of the insurance policy, not a 

question of interpretation of the subcontract. Under either state's law, however, the indemnity 

provision of the Davis & Burton subcontract was not an "insured contract." 
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In reaching its decision, the Circuit Court concluded that the indemIiity provision at issue 

in this case was an "insured contract." See October 5, 2007 Order at 10; May 15, 2008 Order at 

8. However, the indemnity provision at issue in this case contains a significant difference from 

the provision at issue in Marlin. Because of that difference, RCDr did not have an "insured 

contract" with Davis & Burton, the Bituminous insured, as defmed by the policy and the law. As 

such, RCDr has no right under Marlin to "stand in the shoes" of the Bituminous insured with 

regard to a claim for a defense under the insurance policy issued by Bituminous to Davis & 

Burton and the Circuit Court was wrong in so holding. 

The Bituminous policy defines "insured contract," in pertinent part, as: "That part of any 

other contract or agreement pertaining to your business (including an indemnification of a 

municipality in connection with work performed for a municipality) under which you assume 

the tort liability of another to pay damages because of 'bodily injury' or 'property damage' to a 

third person or organization, if the contract or agreement is made prior to the bodily injury or 

property damage. Tort liability means a liability that would be imposed by law in the absence of 

any contract or agreement." Bituminous Summary Judgment Exhibit C-l at ~ V. 8 f, emphasis 

added. See also Marlin, Syllabus Point 5 ("The phrase 'liability assumed by the insured under 

any contract' in an insurance policy, or words to that effect, refers to liability incurred when an 

insured promises to indemnify or hold harmless another party, and thereby agrees to assume 

that other party's tort liability." Emphasis added.) 

Thus, to qualify as an "insured contract," the indemnity agreement in this case must 

require that Davis & Burton assume the tort liability of RCDr to pay damages to the McCormick 

plaintiffs or to any other third person or organization making a claim for bodily injury or 
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property damage against RCD!. As this Court stated in Marlin, "the coverage arises from a 

specific contract to assume liability for another's negligence." ld. at 222, 569 S.E.2d at 469. 

The indemnity provision that this Court found to be an "insured contract" in Marlin, 

provided that: 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor [Bill Rich 
Construction] shall indemnify and hold harmless the Owner 
[Wetzel County Board of Education] ... and their agents and 
employees from and against all claims, damages, losses and 
expenses, including but not limited to attorney's fees, arising out of 
or resulting from the performance of the Work, provided that any 
such claim, damage, loss or expense (1) is attributable to bodily 
injury, sickness, disease or death ... and (2) is caused in whole or in 
part by any negligent act or omission of the Contractor, any 
Subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of 
them or anyone whose acts any of them may be liable, regardless 
of whether or not it is caused in part by a party indemnified 
thereunder .... 

ld. at 218 n.2, 569 S.E.2d at 465 n.2. 

The indemnity provision between RCDl and Davis & Burton that is at issue in this case is 

the standard indemnity language contained in the 1987 edition of AlA Document A-40 1, 

Standard Form of Agreement Between Contractor and Subcontractor. That indemnity provision 

states: 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Subcontractor [Davis & 
Burton] shall indemnify and hold harmless the ... Contractor 
[RCDl], ... from and against claims, damages, losses and 
expenses, including but not limited to attorney's fees, arising out of 
or resulting from performance of the Subcontractor's Work under 
this Subcontract, provided that any such claim, damage, loss or 
expense is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease or death, 
or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the 
Work itself), but only to the extent caused in whole or in part by 
the negligent acts or omissions of the Subcontractor, the 
Subcontractor's Sub-subcontractors, anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by them or anyone for whose acts they may be liable, 
regardless of whether or not such claim, damage, loss or expense is 
caused in part by a party indemnified hereunder. Such obligation 
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shall not be construed to negate, abridge, or otherwise reduce other 
rights or obligations of indemnity which would otherwise exist as 
to a party or person described in this Paragraph 4.6. 

See RCD! Summary Judgment Exhibit C at ~ 4.6.1, emphasis added. The obvious (and 

significant) difference between these two provisions is that the A-401 form indemnity provision 

used in the contract between RCDI and Davis & Burton requires indemnity "only to the extent 

caused by" the Subcontractor's negligence.6 

This difference is best demonstrated by the following example: Suppose that a jury 

concluded that a claimant had suffered damages of $100,000 for bodily injury or property 

damage at the hands of a Contractor and a Subcontractor and further concluded that the 

Contactor was 95% negligent and the Subcontractor was 5% negligent. Under the indemnity 

agreement in Marlin, because it was found to be partly at fault for the claimant's injuries, the 

indemnifying Subcontractor would be responsible to the Contractor for all of the claimant's 

damages, including the $95,000 that the jury deemed to have resulted from the Contractor's 

fault. The Subcontractor would assume all of the tort liability ofthe Contractor. Under the 

indemnity agreement in this case, however, the indemnifying Subcontractor would only be 

responsible to the Contractor for the $5,000 that the jury deemed to have resulted from the

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