I. KIND OF PROCEEDING AND NATURE OF THE RULING 
OF THE CIRCUIT COURT 

Bituminous Casualty Corporation [hereinafter "Bituminous"] appeals from an Order entered 

by Judge James Rowe of the Circuit Court of Greenbrier County granting Resource Consultants and 

Developers, Inc.' s [hereinafter "RCDr"] Motion for Summary Judgment finding that Bituminous 

had a duty to defend RCDr in a civil action filed against RCDr by Mindy and Billy McCormick. 

The Circuit Court properly found the indemnification agreement between RCDr and its sub-

contractor, Davis & Burton Contractors, Inc. [hereinafter "Davis & Burton"], constituted an

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

Exhibit D to RCDI's Memorandum Of Law In Support OfIts Motion For Summary Judgment). 

The Certificate of Insurance provided, in part, $2,000,000.00 in completed operations coverage 

to RCD!. The Putnam Agency (hereafter "Putnam") is an agency authorized under an agreement 

with Bituminous to bind coverages and issue Certificates Of Insurance on behalf of Bituminous. 
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(See Agency-Company Agreement, dated 08/24/88, attached as Exhibit I to RCDI's 

Memorandum Of Law In Support OfIts Motion For Summary Judgment). Bituminous argues 

that its agent, Putnam, failed to notify it of the additional insured status of RCD!. Thus, 

Bituminous contends no endorsement adding RCDI as an additional insured was ever made on its 

policy. (See Appellant brief at Page 6). 

The Subcontractor Agreement between RCDI and Davis & Burton contains an 

indemnification agreement, which required Davis & Burton to indemnify RCDI for all claims, 

damages and attorney fees "arising out of or resulting from the performance of the 

subcontractor's [Davis & Burton] work under this subcontract." (See Paragraph 4.6.1 of 

Subcontractor Agreement attached as Exhibit C to RCDI's Memorandum Of Law In Support Of 

Its Motion For Summary Judgment). 

When the underlying Complaint was filed, RCDI tendered its defense to Davis & 

Burton's insurer, Bituminous. (See Exhibit E attached to RCDI's Memorandum Of Law In 

Support Of Its Motion For Summary Judgment). In January 2002, Bituminous denied that RCDI 

was an insured under its policy despite Bituminous' agent's issuance of the Certificate Of 

Insurance to the contrary. (See Exhibit F attached to RCDI's Memorandum Of Law In Support 

OfIts Motion For Summary Judgment). RCDI's carrier, USF&G, assumed the defense of RCDI 

and incurred in excess of $95,000.00 in fees and costs in defending RCD!. USF&G instituted 

this action in December 2005 in the name of RCDI, as its subrogee, to recover these defense fees 

and costs, which should have been assumed by Bituminous. Discovery in the underlying action 
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proceeded for five (5) years until in June 2006, when the Circuit Court granted summary 

judgment to Davis & Burton and RCDI in the underlying action. 

In light of the Court's dismissal of RCDI and Davis & Burton from the underlying litigation, 

the only issue remaining in the declaratory judgment action was not an issue of whether RCDI 

should be indemnified for any damages it was required to pay to the Plaintiffs, but rather the 

obligation for the cost of defending RCDI for the five (5) years the litigation was pending. In 

granting summary judgment in favor of RCDI in the instant action, the Circuit Court held that by 

virtue of the indemnity agreement, RCDI stood in the shoes of Davis & Burton entitling it to a 

defense from Bituminous based upon the allegation that RCDI was negligent in the construction 

of the water management or containment system. The Circuit Court awarded RCDI the 

$95,334.93 incurred in defending RCDI plus fees and costs incurred in pursuing the instant 

declaratory judgment action of $27,650.72.2 

IV. DISCUSSION OF LAW 

A. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN DAVIS & BURTON AND RCDI CONSTITUTED AN "INSURED CONTRACT." 

The Circuit Court, applying West Virginia law to the Subcontractor Agreement, found that 

the indemnification agreement constituted an "insured contract," thus, entitling RCDI to a 

defense under Davis & 'Burton's policy of insurance with Bituminous. Whether the indemnity 

provision constitutes an "insured contract" implicates choice of law principles applicable to 

contracts, rather than liability issues. See Lee v. Saliga, 179 W.Va. 762, 373 S.E.2d 345,349 

(1988). Typically, "the law of the state in which a contract is made and to be perfonned governs 

2 Bituminous does not contest the reasonableness of the amount of attorney fees and costs awarded. 
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the construction of a contract when it is involved in litigation in the courts of this State." 

Michigan Nat. Bank v. Mattingly, 158 W.Va. 621,212 S.E.2d 754, (1975) at Syl. pt. 1. In 

Liberty Mut. Co. v. Triangle Industries, Inc., 182 W.Va. 580,390 S.E.2d 562 (1990), the Court 

held: 

ld. at 565. 

In a case involving the interpretation of an insurance policy, made 
in one state to be performed in another, the law of the state of the 
formation of the contract shall govern, unless another state has a 
more significant relationship to the transaction and the parties, or 
the law of the other state is contrary to the public policy of this 
state. 

In the instant case, the Circuit Court correctly applied the law of West Virginia in 

interpreting whether the indemnification provision contained in the Subcontractor Agreement 

constituted an "insured contract." (See Order entered 10105/07 at Page 6). Specifically, the 

Subcontractor Agreement between Davis & Burton and RCDl which contains the indemnity 

provision at issue in this litigation was entered into in the State of West Virginia. It involved a 

general contractor incorporated in the State of West Virginia and located in Parkersburg, West 

Virginia. The plaintiffs in the underlying action were all property owners in Lewisburg, West 

Virginia. The subcontract pertains specifically to a project in Lewisburg, West Virginia. As is 

evident from the brief of Bituminous, the construction and interpretation of the terms of the 

indemnity agreement itself are at issue in this appeal. Further, although the insurance policy was 

issued in the State of Kentucky and the subcontractor does business and is incorporated in the 

State of Kentucky, the overwhelming contacts, including the work that is the subject of the 

underlying action, occurred in West Virginia. As such, the significant contacts with West 
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Virginia would also require application of West Virginia law. Further, as the Circuit Court 

recognized in construing the Certificate Of Insurance, public policy requires the application of 

West Virginia law. (See Court Opinion at Page 7). 3 

Davis & Burton's Subcontractor Agreement to construct the storm water drainage system for 

the Wal-Mart shopping center required it to name RCDI as an Additional Insured under its policy 

of insurance with Bituminous. Davis & Burton obtained a Certificate Of Insurance from 

Bituminous' insurance agent, the Putnam Insurance Agency, which identified RCDI as an 

Additional Insured under the Bituminous policy providing, in part, $2,000,000.00 in completed 

operations' coverage. The Subcontractor Agreement between RCDI and Davis & Burton also 

contained an indemnification agreement, which provided: 

4.6.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Subcontractor 
[Davis & Burton] shall indemnify and hold harmless the Owner, 
Contractor [RCDI], Architect, Architect's consultants, and agents 
and employees of any of them from and against claims, damages, 
losses and expenses, including but not limited to attorney's fees, 
arising out of or resulting from the performance of the 
Subcontractor's Work under this Subcontract, provided that 
such claim, damage, loss or expense is attributable to bodily injury, 
sickness, disease or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible 
property (other than the Work itself) including loss of use resulting 
therefrom, but only to the extent caused in whole or in part by 
negligent acts or omlSSlOns of the Subcontractor, the 
Subcontractor's Sub-subcontractors, anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by them or anyone for whose acts they may be liable, 
regardless of whether or not such claim, damage, loss or 
expense is caused in part by a party indemnified hereunder. . 

3 It does not appear that any Appellate Court in the State of Kentucky has ever addressed "the insured contract" 
holding of Mariin, which requires the insured's indenmitor to assume the defense of the indemnitee. The Kentucky 
Court of Appeals in Western Leasing, Inc. v. A.qxdia of Kentucky, Inc., 2010 W.L. 1814959 (Ky.App. May 07, 
2010), cited Marlin with approval in holding that the issuance of a Certificate of Insurance gives rise to a negligent 
misrepresentation claim. (See Cross Assignment Of Error at Page 40). 
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(Emphasis added). (See Subcontractor Agreement attached as Exhibit C to RCDI's 
Memorandum Of Law In Support Oflts Motion For Summary Judgment). 

The Bituminous policy insuring Davis & Burton provides contractual liability coverage 

for insured contracts: 

* * * 
2. Exclusions 

This insurance does not apply to: 

b. "Bodily injury" or "property damage" for which the insured is 
obligated to pay damages by reason of the asswnption ofliability in a 
contract or agreement. This exclusion does not apply to liability for 
damages: 

* * * 
(2) Assumed in a contract or agreement that is an "insured contract", 
provided the "bodily injury" or ''property damage" occurs 
subsequent to the execution of the contract or agreement. Solely for 
the purposes of liability assumed in an "insured contract", reasonable 
attorney fees and necessary litigation expenses incurred by or for a 
party other than an insured are deemed to be damages because of 
"bodily injury" or ''property damage", provided: 

(a) Liability to such party for, or for the cost of, that party's 
defense has also been assumed in the same "insured contract"; 
and 

(b) Such attorney fees and litigation expenses are for defense of 
that party against a civil or alternative dispute resolution 
proceeding in which damages to this insurance applies are 
alleged. 

(See Endorsement CGOO430592 to Bitwninous' CGL Policy No. CLP2160263 collectively 
attached as Exhibit K to RCDI's Memorandum Of Law In Support Of Its Motion For Summary 
Judgment). 

"Insured Contract" is defmed under the policy, in part, as follows: 
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8. "Insured contract" means: 

* * * 
f. That part of any other contract or agreement pertaining to your 
business (including an indemnification of a municipality in 
connection with work performed for a municipality) under which 
you assume the tort liability of another party to pay for "bodily 
injury" or "property damage" to a third person or organization. Tort 
liability means a liability that would be imposed by law in the 
absence of any contract or agreement. ... 

(See Page 8 of Policy attached as Exhibit K to RCDI's Memorandum Of Law In Support OfIts 
Motion For Summary Judgment). 

West Virginia law favors and enforces indemnity arrangements as "a perfectly proper" 

method of allocating risks to certain parties and for insurance purposes. Riggle v. Allied 

Chemical Corn., 180 W.Va. 561,378 S.E.2d 282, 289 (1989); see also,Marlin v. Wetzel County 

Bd. of Educ., 212 W.Va. 215, 569 S.E.2d 462, 468 (2002) (indemnification and hold-harmless 

agreements are a means of shifting the fmancial consequences of a loss). "Indemnity clauses 

serve our goals of encouraging compromise and settlement by reducing settlement discussions to 

bilateral discussions, by encouraging adequate levels of insurance and by allowing parties to a 

contract to allocate among themselves the burden of defending claims." Dalton v. Childress 

Service Corp., 189 W.Va. 428,432 S.E.2d 98, 101 (1993). Thus, express contracts of indemnity, 

even resulting in an indemnification against the indemnitee's own negligence, do not contravene 

public policy and must be enforced. Sellers v. Owens-Illinois Glass Co., 156 W.Va. 87, 191 

S.E.2d 166, at Syl. pt. 1 (1972). 

In Marlin. this Court recognized that the phrase "liability assumed by the insured under 

any contract" in an insurance policy, "refers to liability incurred when an insured promises to 
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indemnify or hold harmless another party and thereby agrees to assume that other party's tort 

liability." Id. 569 S.E.2d at 469. This is exactly what RCDI and Davis & Burton intended by 

Davis & Burton agreeing to indemnify RCDI and agreeing to add RCDI as an additional insured 

on its policy with Bituminous. Davis & Burton assumed the "tort liability of another party ," here 

RCDI, agreeing to indemnify and save RCDI harmless from and against "claims, damages, losses 

and expenses, including but not limited to attorney fees, arising out of or resulting from the 

performance of the subcontractor's work .... " Thus, the indemnity provision clearly qualifies as 

an "insured contract." 

In Marlin, the general liability policy issued to Bill Rich Construction insured "any sums 

which the insured was legally required to pay as damages because of bodily injury or property 

damage," and the contractual liability policy exclusion likewise contained an exception for 

"liability assumed by the insured under contract." The indemnification provision in the 

construction contract required Bill Rich to "indemnify and hold harmless" the indemnitee, there 

the Board of Education, "from and against all claims, damages, losses and expenses, including 

but not limited to attorney's fees, arising out of or resulting from the performance of the Work .. 

. . " Marlin, 569 S.E.2d at 473 N.2. Like RCDI, the Board was also to be added as an Additional 

Insured on the contractor's policy. 569 S.E.2d at 465. 

This Court ruled in Marlin that the construction contract between the Board of Education 

and Bill Rich Construction was an "insured contract." As such, the insurance policy insured 

against sums which the construction company assumed under the indemnification agreement 

entitling the Board to coverage under the policy. In addition, the Court ruled that, because the 
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contract shifted the legal responsibility for tort liability from the Board to Bill Rich, the Board 

stood in the same shoes as the insured and could "directly seek coverage under the policy" issued 

by Bill Rich's insurer. S.E.2d at 469. This Court held that Bill Rich's insurer was obligated to 

provide a defense to the Board of Education. Id. 

Under West Virginia law, "[ w ]hen a party has an insured contract, that party stands in the 

same shoes as the insured for coverage purposes." Consolidation Coal Co. v. Boston Old Colony 

Ins. Co., 203 W.Va. 385, 508 S.E.2d 102 (1998) at Syl. pt. 7. Consequently, RCDI, as the 

indemnitee under the contract with Davis & Burton, "stood in the shoes" of Davis & Burton and 

was entitled to a defense under Davis & Burton's policy with Bituminous. Moreover, as Davis & 

Burton was required and, in fact, attempted to have RCDI named as an Additional Insured, it was 

clearly the intent of the contracting parties to afford coverage to RCDI under the Bituminous 

policy. The primary object of contract interpretation is to "ascertain and give effect to the 

intention of the parties." Sellers v. Owens-Illinois Glass Co., 156 W.Va. 87,92-93, 191 S.E.2d 

166, 169 (1972); See also, 3D Enterprises Contracting Corp. v. Louisville and Jefferson County 

Metropolitan Sewer Dist., 174 S.W.3d 440, 448 (Ky., 2005). 

In its brief, Bituminous contends that the indemnity provision between Davis & Burton 

and RCDI is not an "insured contract" arguing it is substantially different than the provision in 

Marlin. Bituminous' argument should be rejected based both on public policy grounds and in 

order to give effect to the contracting parties' intent to transfer risk. 

The indemnity provision between Davis & Burton and RCDI provides: 

4.6.1 To the fullest extent pennitted by law, the Subcontractor [Davis 
and Burton] shall indemnify and hold hannless the Owner, Contractor 
[RCDl], Architect, Architect's consultants, and agents and employees of 

19 



any of them from and against claims, damages, losses and expenses, 
including but not limited to attorney's fees, arising out of or resulting 
from the perlormance of the Subcontractor's Work under this 
Subcontract, provided that such claim, damage, loss or expense is 
attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease or death, or to injury to or 
destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself) including 
loss of use resulting therefrom, but only to the extent caused in whole 
or in part by negligent acts or omissions of the Subcontractor, the 
Subcontractor's Sub-subcontractors, anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by them or anyone for whose acts they may be liable, 
regardless of whether or not such claim, damage, loss or expense 
is caused in part by a party indemnified hereunder. 

(Emphasis added). 

The indemnification provision in Marlin provides:

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